

Minutes of the Nevada State Legislature Senate Committee on <u>Government Affairs</u> Date: <u>May 18, 1979</u> Page: <u>One</u>

Present:

Chairman Gibson Vice Chairman Keith Ashworth Senator Dodge Senator Echols Senator Raggio Senator Ford Senator Kosinski

Also Present:

Bob Gagnier, SNEA Jim Wittenberg, State Personnel Roger Laird, State Personnel George Miller, Welfare Dept. Press

Chairman Gibson called the forty-ninth meeting of the Government Affairs committee to order at 4:50 p.m.

Chairman Gibson presented the committee with the amendments that were prepared by the Assembly Government Affairs on <u>SB-444</u>. (See <u>Attachment #1</u>) Chairman went over the bill noting where these amendments would be placed and it re-inserts the exemptions on votes in a mailing precinct. Since this was the subject of considerable deliberation by the committee the Chairman wanted the committee to decide whether to concur or not concur on these amendments.

Senator Kosinski stated that he was unable to present the facts to the Assembly Government Affairs committee and suggested that he go to conference on the bill.

The committee decided not to concur with the amendments prepared by the Assembly Government Affairs committee.

<u>AB-726</u> Revises procedures for cancellation of certain affidavits of registration to vote.

Chairman Gibson stated that this bill dealt with mailing a notice for registration removal. Chairman Gibson turned the explanation of the bill and the amending language over to Senator Ford.

Senator Ford stated that the amendment calls for a notice to be sent March 15th informing the individual that they were being purged from rolls for a failure to vote in the last general election. The policy question is whether the committee wants to put back into the law the ability for an individual to re-register with a post card and send it back to the registrars office.

> Senator Ford moved to amend <u>AB-726</u> by making the bill mandatory, Seconded by Senator Dodge Motion carried unanimously.

Minutes of the Nevada State Legislature

Senate Committee on Government Affairs Date: May 18, 1979

Date:	
Deeee	Two
rage	

<u>AB-523</u> Provides fcr termination of certain boards, commissions and similar bodies in executive department of state government.

Senator Kosinski informed the committee that the amendments as agreed upon by the committee in Meeting #48, were prepared. The Senator read the amending language and noted its placement. The committee concurred with the language in the amendments and agreed to a joint review committee.

<u>AB-137</u> Provides for collective bargaining by state employees.

Bob Gagnier, represeting S.N.E.A. stated that after the 1975 session, Administration and SNEA people began negotiating a rule, policy or executive order that could be introduced by joint agreement. They felt that this could be implemented without any law in the statutes or bargaining. After a year of internal negotiations, SNEA and State Personnel reached an agreement on a proposed rule that would be adopted by the Personnel Advisory Commission. In accordance with State law the agreement was submitted to the counsel bureau whereby the parties involved were notified that this can't be done without a law.

We have complied with the dictates of the counsel bureau and Mr. Daykin was to have our agreed upon rule put into a bill. Mr. Gagnier stated that since Personnel agreed upon the rule it should be adopted by them according to the prior agreement.

The bill, according to Mr. Gagnier, sets up a policy and provides for the interim appointment of an administrative judge and subsequent responsibilities

Senator Dodge asked about the sharing of costs. He wanted to know if that would have budget reviews.

Mr. Gagnier responded that the money would come out of contract services. He felt the fiscal note was excessive and they want additional personnel to negotiate.

Senator Dodge stated that if the bill is processed it probably should go to Finance.

Mr. Gagnier indicated that there would be sufficient funds within the budget to handle the additional costs but if the committee did not agree, it should go to Finance.

Chairman Gibson asked if the administrative judge is called into activity infrequently or is his assignment full time.

Mr. Gagnier stated that it was not a full time position but it did go year round.

Mr. Gagnier continued that the salary would not be full time either and noted that there is a problem with people from outside the State of Nevada coming in as arbitrators and factfinders.

Chairman Gibson asked about the fiscal note and Mr. Gagnier responded that the fiscal note is estimated at about \$74,000 per year.

Mr. Gagnier also noted that on page 2, line 5 the language states "and of agreements with employee organizations". Requested that this be deleted. He concluded by stating that there are 4500 members of SNEA out of 9200 employees in the State and they do not require anyone to join the association.

Jim Wittenberg and Roger Laird from the Personnel Division, were present to testify on the bill.

Mr. Wittenberg went over the state regulations for the committee and agreed that they did sit down with SNEA to develop some procedures and rules to follow. Mr. Wittenberg felt that this was better than collective bargaining through the legislation. Mr. Wittenberg disagreed with the \$74,000 fiscal note. He stated that there is a \$74,000 fiscal cost to the budget. There will be three positions and 20 to 25 agencies will have to be dealt with. The additional costs must be borne by the agencies.

Roger Laird stated that they needed two additional amendments and they never meant for the Administrative judge to interpret any agreements that were reached. Mr. Laird suggested rewriting line 12 to read as follows: "negotiate and if the agreement is reached, those agreements would be entered into writing.

George Miller, Welfare Director, testified in opposition to the bill. Mr. Miller stated that they were to begin formulating a plan. The Governor agreed that they should get together and work out something both parties could live with. Mr. Miller stated that when they returned to the Governor with a plan there were several agencies that were against the proposal they had. (Highway, NIC, ESD and Welfare). Mr. Miller felt that there was a difference of opinion between the groups previously mentioned, in opposition, and Administration. Did not feel that collective bargaining should be considered and many agencies are totally against this. Mr. Miller also felt that the advisory judge's opinion won't make any difference if the agency head has a difference of opinion. Feels that this is doing nothing. The agencies that object to this bill do not want another division making decisions that will affect their agency.

Mr. Miller addressed the fiscal note. He felt that it is about 1/3rd of what it should be. Suggested having the bill indefinitely postponed as he doesn't have enough personnel to comply with the requirements as specified.

Minutes of the Nevada State Legislature Senate Committee on <u>Government Affairs</u> Date: <u>May 18, 1979</u> Page: Four

Even though the legislation is permissive, it is like opening up Pandora's box. Feels that it will be costly and won't be accomplishing what Mr. Gagnier feels it can accomplish.

Senator Ford stated that if this is not necessary, is there another procedure that you are using that is less costly and will solve the employee-management problems. The Senator asked Mr. Miller to tell the committee what procedures they use in the Welfare Division.

Mr. Miller stated, the grievance system currently being used works well. The Welfare attorney felt the system is a sound one.

Bob Gagnier responded to some of the comments made in opposition to the bill. Judicial review is important, notice that in the bill and in the rule proposal, the employee organization once certified and the Employee Relations Officer (who by definition is Mr. Wittenberg), jointly select the Administrative Judge. If another employee organization came along and receives an adverse ruling from that Administrative Judge, you may wish to challenge and ask for judicial review.

Mr. Gagnier also stated that they have no objection to the language change proposed on line 12 of page 1 that was proposed by Mr. Laird.

Chairman Gibson concluded by stating that there would be no action taken on  $\underline{AB-137}$  at this time and there may be a meeting after the session on May 19th.

With no further business the meeting was adjourned at 6:23 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

M. Peck Janice

Committee Secretary

Rick Ruthstrom

Substituted in meeting taking minutes.

Approved:

Chairman

Senator James I. Gibson

Note: Attached is a copy of the Employee-Management Relations Policy for informational purposes only. (See <u>Attachment #2</u>)

Amend section 1, page 1, line 9, after "<u>votes</u>" by deleting the comma and inserting "<u>and votes in a mailing precinct,</u>". Amend section 2, page 2, line 7, after "<u>votes</u>" by deleting the comma and inserting "<u>and votes in a mailing precinct,</u>". Amend section 3, page 2, line 38, after "<u>votes</u>" by deleting the comma and inserting "and votes in a mailing precinct,".

1.282 非

1

EXHI BIT

#### EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS POLICY

ARTICLE I - GENERAL PROVISIONS

SEC. I. Statement of Purpose and Definitions.

1. These regulations carry out the general provisions of chapter 284 of NRS by providing orderly procedures for the administration of employee-management relations.

2. The state encourages a relationship of trust, confidence and mutual understanding within an established framework of policy and procedures which will provide a uniform and equitable basis for consideration of the interests of employees, improve communication between management, employees and employee organizations, improve personnel management, provide a uniform basis for employees to exercise their right to join or not to join employee organizations of their choice, and provide for designated representation in employment relationships.

3. These regulations are not intended to supersede other regulations which establish the merit principle and govern the merit system, or which provide for other methods of administering employee-management relations.

4. It is the purpose of these regulations to provide procedures for representatives of the state to meet and confer in good faith with a recognized employee organization and employees of the state regarding matters that directly affect and primarily involve wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment of the employees.

SEC. 2. Definitions.

As used in these regulations:

1. "Administrative employee" means an employee who is responsible for formulating, administering and managing state policies and programs and whose primary duties consist of work directly related to management policies and programs or any employee at or above a salary grade of 40 (or its equivalent if the system of assigning salary grade numbers is modified after the effective date of these regulations

2. "Agency" means a department, commission, board or major office in

EXHI BIT

2

the executive branch of the state government and includes the University of Nevada System.

3. "Appropriate unit" means the unit of employee classes or positions which has been established pursuant to Article IV.

4. "Confidential employees" means employees of the department of administration, personnel officers, analysts and technicians of state agencies, managerial employees and technical supervisory employees of the central data processing division of the department of general services, and employees of the local government employee management relations board.

5. "Consulting in good faith" means communicating for the purpose of presenting and obtaining views or advising of intended actions and, as distinguished from "meeting and conferring in good faith," does not mean exchanging proposals and counter proposals to reach an agreement pursuant to Article IX.

6. "Day" means a calendar day unless expressly stated otherwise.

7. "Employee relations officer" means the chief of the personnel division or his duly authorized representative.

8. "Impasse" means a situation in which representatives of the state and the recognized employee organization, after meeting and conferring on matters regarding which they are required to meet and confer, have differences so substantial and prolonged that further meeting and conferring would be futile.

9. "Meet and confer in good faith" means to meet and confer promptly upon request by either party, freely exchanging information, opinions and proposals and endeavoring to reach agreement on matters within the scope of negotiation before adoption of the final executive budget for the ensuing biennium, and to continue the meeting and conferring for a reasonable period which includes adequate time for the resolution of any impasse.

10. "Recognized employee organization" means an employee organization which has been recognized by the state as the organization to represent the employees in the appropriate unit in their employment relations with the state.

11. "Work day" does not include rest or meal periods.

2

EXHIBIT 2 1284

# ARTICLE II - ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

SEC. 1.

The administrative judge is the final arbitrator on all disputed matters arising out of the administration and interpretation of these regulations. The administrative judge shall be considered a disinterested third party in matters of decisions requiring independent judgment on points of law.

SEC. 2.

The administrative judge must be a resident of the State of Nevada and not an employee of the executive branch of state government.

SEC. 3.

If any dispute concerning the administration or interpretation of these regulations arises before the recognition of an employee organization, a temporary administrative judge appointed by the employee relations officer shall hear the dispute.

SEC. 4

 Upon recognition of an employee organization, the recognized employee organization and the employee relations officer shall promptly meet and make every reasonable effort mutually to select an administrative judge.

2. If the parties cannot agree, either party may declare an impasse. Upon such declaration, each party shall within 10 days submit to the other a list of three names. If the parties are unable to select a person from the six names within 5 days, the parties shall select the administrative judge by alternately striking names from the combined list. The last remaining name is the administrative judge. The right to strike the first name is determined by the flip of a coin.

#### SEC. 5.

The administrative judge serves for a term ending January 1 of the first even-numbered year after his selection or reappointment unless both parties agree to his earlier removal. If the administrative judge becomes incapacitated, dies or resigns, the parties shall promptly meet to select another judge as provided in section 4. Otherwise the parties shall meet before December 1 of the odd-numbered year preceding the expiration of the judge's term to

3

EXHI BIT

# 285

2 • ·

either reappoint him or select a new judge, as provided in section 4.

# ARTICLE III - REPRESENTATION PROCEEDINGS

SEC. 1. Filing of Recognition Petition by Employee

Organization.

1. An employee organization which seeks to be designated as the recognized employee organization representing the employees in the appropriate unit must file with the employee relations officer a petition containing:

(a) Name and address of the employee organization.

(b) Names and titles of its officers.

(c) Names of the representatives who are authorized to speak on behalf of the employee organization.

(d) A statement that the employee organization will comply with NRS 288.230, which declares that strikes against the state are illegal.

(e) A statement whether or not the employee organization is a chapter of, or affiliated or confederated directly or indirectly with, a local, regional, state, national or international organization, and, if so, the name and address of each such other organization.

(f) Copies of the constitution and by-laws of the employee organization.

(g) A designation of not more than two persons, with their addresses, to whom notice sent by regular United States mail will be deemed sufficient notice to the employee organization for any purpose related to these regulations.

(h) A statement that the employee organization has no restriction on membership based on race, color, creed, sex or national origin.

(i) A statement that the employee organization has in its possession proof that a majority of the employees in the unit have designated it to represent them in their employment relations with the state. Written proof of such support must be submitted for confirmation to the employee relations officer or to another person mutually selected by the petitioner and employee relations officer.

(j) A request that the employee relations officer designate the petition-

EXHI BIT

2 \_\_\_

1286

er as the recognized employee organization.

2. The petition, including the proof of support by the majority of employees and all accompanying documentation, must be declared true and complete, under penalty of perjury, by the duly authorized officer or officers of the employee organization executing the petition.

SEC. 2.

1. To prove the support of an employee, a petitioner must show:

(a) a recent personally signed and dated authorization card clearly designating the petitioner as the employee's choice to represent him in meeting and conferring with the state

(b) a card for deduction of the petitioner's dues or a card evidencing a dues paying membership, signed by the employee. If cards for more than one employee organization have been signed by the same employee, the cards must not be considered proof of the employee's support for any organization.

2. Only the most recently signed authorization card of the employee, signed by him within 180 days before the filing of the petition, constitutes proof of his support. If different employee organizations present a dues deduction or dues paying membership card and an authorization card for the same employee, the most recently dated card prevails.

3. Only those employees who are employed by the state during the payroll period ending immediately before to the date on which the petition is filed may be counted as proof of employees' support.

SEC. 3. State Response to Recognition Petition.

 Upon receipt of the petition, the employee relations officer shall determine whether the petitioner:

(a) Has complied with the requirements for submitting such a petition; and

(b) has shown proof that it is supported by a majority of the eligible employees in the appropriate unit.

2. If the employee relations officer determines that the petitioner has met these requirements, the employee relations officer shall so inform the petitioner but shall not take final action on the petition for 15 days there-

5

EXHIBIT 2\_J 1.87

after. If either of the requirements has not been met, the employee relations officer shall offer to consult thereon with the petitioner and if the deficiency thereafter remains uncorrected, shall inform the petitioner in writing of the reasons why the petition is deficient.

3. The petitioner may appeal such determination in accordance with Article V.

SEC. 3. Recognition.

1. If, after 15 days, no other employee organization files a petition for recognition with the employee relations officer and if the petitioning employee organization has met all requirements of this article, the employee relations officer shall formally designate the petition as the recognized employee organization.

2. If, during the 15-day period any other employee organization files a petition for recognition the organization which proves that it has the support of a majority of the employees in the appropriate unit be designated the recognized employee organization by the employee relations officer.

SEC. 4. Elections.

1. If there is more than one employee organization requesting recognition and the employee relations officer finds that it is unclear which organization has the support of the majority of the employees, he may hold an election within 45 days.

2. The administrative judge shall not require or prohibit holding of such an election.

SEC. 5. Procedure for Decertification of Recognized

#### Employee Organization.

1. A petition for decertification, alleging that the recognized employee organization no longer represents a majority of the employees in the appropriate unit may be filed with the employee relations officer only during:

(a) January of any year following the first full year of recognition; or

(b) the 30-day period commencing 180 days before the termination of a memorandum of understanding which has then been in effect less than 3 years, whichever occurs later. A petition may be filed by two or more em-

6

# EXHI BIT

-3R

2 \_\_\_

ployees in the appropriate unit or by any employee organization.

2. The petition must contain the following information, which the duly authorized signalory declares, under penalty of perjury, to be true and complete:

(a) The name, address and telephone number of the petitioner and his designated representative authorized to receive any notice or request for further information.

(b) A statement that the recognized employee organization no longer represents a majority of the employees in the appropriate unit, and any other relevant and material facts.

(c) Proof that a majority of the employees in the established appropriate unit no longer desire to be represented by the recognized employee organization. This proof must be submitted for confirmation to the employee relations officer or to another person who has been mutually selected within the time limits specified in subsection 1.

3. If the petition meets all requirements set forth in this section, the employee relations officer shall serve notice upon the recognized employee organization that he will decertify it 15 days or more after serving the notice.

4. If the petition has been filed by another employee organization which has met all requirements of section 1 and this section and has proved that it has the support of the majority of the employees in the unit, the employee relations officer shall, 15 days or more after the decertification, designate the petitioner as the new recognized employee organization.

5. The employee relations officer may, upon reasonable belief that the recognized employee organization no longer maintains a majority support of the employees in the unit, request the organization to submit proof of such support within the time limits specified in subsection 1. If the organization is unable to show proof of such support, the employee relations officer shall serve written notice decertifying the organization.

6. If the employee relations officer finds that it is unclear which organization has the support of the majority of the employees, he may hold an election within 45 days.

7

EXHI BIT

2\_\_\_

7. The administrative judge shall not require or prohibit such an election.

ARTICLE IV - APPROPRIATE UNIT

SEC. 1. Appropriate Unit.

For the purpose of these regulations, there is only one appropriate unit. It consists of all classified employees, both probationary and permanent, except as provided in subsection 2.

SEC. 2.

The following state employees are excluded from the unit: unclassified employees, administrative employees, confidential employees, employees serving in positions which normally require less than half-time, students who are part-time employees, and employees under the Comprehensive Employment and Training Act.

SEC. 3.

The employee relations officer shall, after consultation with employee groups, determine which positions fall within the exclusions noted in section 2, subject to appeal as provided in Article V.

## SEC. 4.

Nothing in these regulations prohibits:

(a) employees who are excluded from the appropriate unit from consulting in good faith with the state or its agencies.

(b) the state or its agencies from extending to all state employees any benefit or condition of employment developed through the provisions of these regulations.

#### ARTICLE V - APPEALS

SEC. 1.

An employee organization aggrieved by a determination of the employee relations officer on a petition for recognition or decertification or any employee aggrieved by a determination of the employee relations officer that a petition for decertification has not been properly filed, in compliance with Article 111, may, within 15 days after notice of the determination, appeal from it to the administrative judge for a final administrative decision.

8

EXHI BIT

2\_\_\_

SEC. 2.

1. The administrative judge shall hear all disputes arising out of the interpretation or application of these regulations. Such disputes may involve, but are not limited to, a determination of excluded persons and classifications, a prohibited practice, the designation of a recognized employee organization, and the resolution of an impasse.

2. In any case where a specific time limit is not prescribed in these regulations, either party may request a hearing within 15 days after the alleged violation or other action has occurred. The request must be directed to the administrative judge and a copy of it sent to the other party. The administrative judge shall schedule a hearing within 15 days after receipt of the request and shall render his decision within 20 days after the hearing.
3. A decision of the administrative judge is a final administrative

decision but is subject to judicial review.

## ARTICLE VI -- ADMINISTRATION

Submission of Current Information by Recognized

SEC. 1.

## Employee Organizations.

Any change in the information filed by a recognized employee organization, under section 1 of article III, in its petition for recognition must be reported in writing to the employee relations officer within 30 days after the change.

SEC. 2. <u>Employee Organization Activities -- Use of State</u> . . .

Access to state work locations, the use of state employees during working hours, and the use of state facilities, equipment and other resources by the recognized employee organization or its representives is authorized only to the extent provided for in a memorandum of understanding.

SEC. 3. Administrative Rules and Procedures.

The employee relations officer may establish such procedures as are appropriate to administer the provisions of these regulations, after consultation with affected employee organizations and subject to approval by the advisory personnel commission.

9

EXHIBIT 2-1291

## ARTICLE VII - PROHIBITED PRACTICES

SEC. 1.

Employee organizations and their representatives shall not directly or indirectly:

1. Interfere with, restrain, or coerce state employees in the exercise of their rights.

 Coerce, intimidate or induce any excluded employee or other agent of the state to interfere with employees in the exercise of their rights.

3. Solicit for membership of employees during the work day.

4. Interfere with or disrupt the orderly conduct of state business, nor induce any state employee to absent himself on organizational activity from his place of employment except with prior approval of the employee relations officer or the employee's appointing authority, or pursuant to the terms of a memorandum of understanding.

5. Violate the provisions of section 2, article X.

SEC. 2.

The state and its designated representatives shall not, directly nor indirectly:

1. Intimidate, retaliate, interfere with, restrain or coerce state employees in the exercise of their rights.

2. Dominate any employee organization by any means. This shall not be construed as depriving management from enforcing its administrative responsibilities of excluded employees.

3. Discriminate in regard to hiring, tenure or any term or condition of employment to encourage or discourage membership in any employee organization.

4. Discharge or otherwise discriminate against any employee because he has signed or filed an affidavit, petition or complaint or given any information or testimony pursuant to these regulations, or because he has formed or joined or chosen to be represented by any employee organization.

5. Violate the provisions of any written agreement with respect to salaries, wages, hours or other terms and conditions of employment affecting

classified employees, including an agreement to arbitrate or to accept the terms of an arbitration award where previously the parties have agreed to accept the award as final and binding.

6. Violate the provisions of section 2 of article X.

SEC. 3.

Any employee who is aggrieved by a violation of any prohibited practice set forth in sections 1 and 2 may present his grievance to the employee relations officer, and may appeal from a determination of that officer to the administrative judge, as provided in article V.

# ARTICLE VIII - RIGHTS OF EMPLOYEES

SEC. 1.

State employees may form, join and participate in the activities of employee organizations, for the purpose of securing effective representation on matters of employee-management relations.

SEC. 2.

State employees may refuse to join or participate in any employee organization and may represent themselves individually in their employment relations with the state if the results of such representation will not violate the terms of any existing memorandum of understanding.

ARTICLE IX -- MEETING AND CONFERRING

SEC. 1. Meeting and Conferring.

1. The recognized employee organization is the exclusive agent for the employees within the appropriate unit for the purpose of meeting and conferring with the state and its agencies.

2. The state and the recognized employee organization shall, on the request of either party, but not later than the first day of July, of each even-numbered year, meet and confer in good faith with a view to reaching agreement regarding wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment. The scope of the negotiations must not include any consideration of the right of the state:

(a) To determine the merits or organization of, or the necessity for, any service or activity established by law or executive order;

11

EXHI BIT

2\_\_\_\_\_

(b) To determine the mission or the priority of the missions of its departments, divisions, agencies, boards and commissions;

(c) To set standards for service, and determine staff workloads;

(d) To set standards and methodology for employment and classification of employees;

(e) .To direct its employees;

(f) To take disciplinary action;

(g) To lay off its employees because of lack of work or funds;

(h) To maintain the efficiency of governmental operations;

 (i) To determine the methods, means and personnel by which government operations are to be conducted;

(j) To take all necessary actions to carry out its mission in emergencies; or

(k) To exercise complete control and discretion over its organization and the technology of performing its work.

However, nothing in this subsection precludes an employee or employee organization from filing a petition for relief of a grievance (under existing grievance adjustment procedures) which has occurred in the state's exercise of these rights or from appealing to the administrative judge for an interpretation of these rights.

3. The state will be represented in its employment relations with the recognized employee organization by the governor's designee and such other state officials as the governor deems appropriate. This subsection does not preclude the employee relations officer from contracting with or employing a person or firm which is competent in labor relations.

SEC. 2.

1. The recognized employee organization may also meet and confer with a state agency on employment practices peculiar to that agency for the purpose of reaching a supplemental agreement if the recognized employee organization represents a majority of the employees of the agency who are in the appropriate unit. The agency shall not meet and confer with any employee organization other than the recognized employee organization. A meeting and

12 🔅

conferring to reach such a supplemental agreement is not subject to the time requirements prescribed in subsection 2 of section 1.

2. Such a supplemental agreement must not conflict with these regulations or any master memorandum of understanding between the state and the recognized employee organization, and the employee relations officer shall determine whether or not a conflict exists. Such a supplemental agreement must not exceed the budgetary limitations of the agency.

3. A copy of any proposed supplemental agreement reached between a state agency and the employee organization must be sent to the employee relations officer at least 20 days before the agreement is signed.

4. The employee relations officer may represent any state agency in negotiating for a supplemental agreement. The agency shall periodically advise the employee relations officer of the issues and progress of any meeting which he does not attend as the agency's representative.

SEC. 3.

The head of an agency may delegate the responsibility for conducting its negotiations to the head of a major division of the agency.

ARTICLE X - MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING

SEC. 1.

 Upon agreement being reached by the parties, the agreement must be reduced to writing in the form of a memorandum of understanding. The memorandum must be signed by the parties.

All items within the agreement shall become effective and binding upon execution except for any item which requires the approval of another body, such as the advisory personnel commission, the state board of examiners or the legislature. Items requiring the additional approval become effective upon the approval of the appropriate body and may be made retroactive to the date of execution of the agreement.

3. Those items agreed to and requiring a budgetary allocation must be included in the state budget and jointly presented and recommended to the legislature by the state employer and the recognized employee organization at the legislative session next following the execution of the negotiated

13

EXHI BIT

#### agreement.

SEC. 2.

1. The employer and the employee organization shall support the proposals agreed upon in every way possible at the legislature. Neither party may engage in any activity at the legislature which is contrary to their agreement.

2. Subsection 1 does not prohibit either party from pursuing any objective before the legislature which was not agreed upon, even though the parties followed the procedure for resolving an impasse concerning that objective, except that neither party may pursue before the legislature any item which was voluntarily dropped during the negotiations or was not included in the proposals for negotiation.

3. This section does not preclude either party from lobbying on any subject excluded from negotiation by subsection 4 of article 1 or on any issue over which the parties have no control under their agreement.

4. Except as provided for in subsections 2 and 3, neither party may lobby on any issue that will substantially change the economic costs to the state or the employees from the costs included in the agreement unless the legislature modifies or rejects an item of the agreement.

#### ARTICLE XI - IMPASSE PROCEDURES

SEC. 1. Initiation of Impasse Procedures.

1. If the negotiations have reached an impasse, either party may initiate procedures for solving the impasse by filing with the other party and the administrative judge a written request for a meeting, together with a statement of the initiating party's position on all disputed issues. The administrative judge shall schedule the meeting promptly.

2. The purpose of the meeting is:

(a) To identify and specify in writing the issue or issues that remain in dispute.

(b) To review the position of the parties in a final effort to resolve the disputed issue or issues; and

14

(c) If the dispute is not resolved in the meeting, to discuss arrange-

EXHIBIT\_2\_\_ 1296

ments for using the procedures provided in sections 2 to 4, inclusive.

SEC. 2. Impasse Procedures.

1. The procedures for resolving an impasse are as follows:

(a) If the parties agree to submit the dispute to mediation and agree on the selection of a mediator, the dispute must be submitted to mediation. The mediator shall not make any public recommendation or take any public position at any time concerning the issues.

(b) If the parties do not agree to submit the dispute to mediation, do not agree on the selection of a mediator, or do not resolve the dispute through mediation within 15 days after the mediator begins to meet with them, either party may seek to resolve the impasse by factfinding.

(c) If the parties agree on the appointment of one or more factfinders, the factfinders may proceed in accordance with subsection 2. If the parties fail to agree on one or more factfinders, a factfinding panel of three must be appointed in the following manner: One member of the panel is appointed by the employee relations officer, one member is appointed by the recognized employee organization, and the two members name a third, who shall serve as the chairman of the panel. If the first two members are unable to agree upon a third, they may agree to select the third member from one or more lists of names provided by the American Arbitration Association.

2. The following constitute the jurisdictional and procedural requirements for factfinding:

(a) The factfinders shall consider and be guided by applicable federal and state laws.

(b) Subject to the stipulations of the parties, the factfinders shall use, along with the normal criteria for resolving a dispute, the following methods and criteria in arriving at their findings and recommendations:

(1) If relevant to the issues, a comparison of the total compensation, hours and conditions of employment of the employees involved in the factfinding with the total compensation, hours and conditions of employment of other employees performing similar services in public and private employment within the State of Nevada and western states. As used in this subpara-

15

# EXHI BIT

2\_\_\_

graph, "total compensation" means all wage compensation, including but not limited to premium, incentive, minimum, standby, out-of-class and deferred pay; all paid leave time; all allowances, including but not limited to educational and uniform benefits; medical and hospitalization benefits; and insurance, pension and welfare benefits and changes in cost of living.

(2) The factfinders may then adjust the results of those comparisons, based on but not limited to the following factors:

(i) The pattern of change that has occurred in the total compensation of the employees in the unit at impasse as compared to the pattern of change in the average consumer price index for goods and services;

(ii) The benefits of job stability and continuity of employment; and

(iii) The difficulty, or lack thereof, in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel.

(3) The financial resources of the state to carry out the proposals, as shown by any documentary evidence and testimony of the parties regarding the state's projected revenues and budget.

3. The factfinders shall make written findings of fact and recommendations for the resolution of the issues in dispute, which shall be presented in terms of the criteria, adjustments, and limitations described in paragraph (b) of subsection 2. Any member of a factfinding panel may file dissenting findings of fact and recommendations. The factfinder or chairman of the factfinding panel shall serve the findings and recommendations on the employee relations officer and the designated representative of the recognized employee organization. If the parties have not resolved the impasse within 10 days after service of the findings and recommendations upon them, the factfinder or the chairman of the factfinding panel shall submit the findings and recommendations to the administrative judge, who shall make them public.

SEC. 3. The parties may agree to submit the impasse directly to the administrative judge.

SEC. 4. Any such findings and recommendations by factfinders or the

16

# EXHI BIT

administrative judge are advisory only and are not binding upon either party. ARTICLE XII - COST OF IMPASSE RESOLUTION AND ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

The costs for the services of the administrative judge (acting either in the capacity of a factfinder under article XI or as an arbitrator under article V), or for the services of any mediator, factfinder or chairman of a factfinding panel used by the parties and any other mutually incurred costs of mediation or factfinding must be borne equally by the state and the recognized employee organization. The cost of the member separately selected by a party for a factfinding panel and other costs separately incurred by a party must be borne by that party.

ARTICLE XIII - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SEC. 1. Severability.

If any provision of these regulations or any application of such a provision to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the remaining provisions, or the application of such a provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, shall not be affected thereby.

17

RL:akb

9/8/78

EXHIBIT 2